**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA**

AMERICA FIRST FEDERAL CREDIT  
UNION, a federally chartered credit  
union,

Appellant,

v.

FRANCO SORO, an individual; MYRA  
TAIGMAN-FARRELL, an individual;  
ISAAC FARRELL, an individual;  
KATHY ARRINGTON, an individual;  
and AUDIE EMBESTRO, an  
individual;

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 64130

Electronically Filed  
Oct 13 2014 09:12 a.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**APPEAL**

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County  
The Honorable JERRY A. WIESE, District Judge  
District Court Case No. A-13-679511-C

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Stanley W. Parry, Nevada Bar No. 1417

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from a district court order dismissing a deficiency action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Appellant America First Federal Credit Union (“AFCU”) filed its Complaint in the district court on April 4, 2013. See Joint Appendix at JA001-JA005 (“JA 001-005”). Respondents Franco Soro, Myra Taigman-Farrell, Isaac Farrell, Kathy Arrington, and Audie Embestro (“Borrowers”) filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to N.R.C.P. 12(b)(1) on July 29, 2013. See JA 017-038. AFCU filed an opposition, see JA 039-065, and Borrowers filed a reply, see JA 066-073. The district court entered an order granting the motion on September 9, 2013. See JA 075-080. Borrowers served notice of entry of the order on September 10, 2013. See JA 081-089. AFCU then filed its timely notice of appeal on September 27, 2013. See JA 090-091. Accordingly, the Court has jurisdiction over AFCU’s appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Where the parties to a contract agree to “submit themselves to the jurisdiction of” another state’s courts, but the parties do not use any compulsory or exclusive language with respect to the specified forum, is the provision a mandatory forum selection clause or a permissive consent to jurisdiction clause?

2. Where the borrower and lender under a loan secured by Nevada real property agree that the loan will be governed by another jurisdiction’s law, but the other jurisdiction’s deficiency statutes, by their own terms, do not apply extraterritorially to a trustee’s sale of Nevada real property, is a subsequent deficiency action by the lender subject to Nevada’s statute of limitations or the other jurisdiction’s statute of limitations?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from a lawsuit by AFCU to recover a deficiency judgment from Borrowers. In April 2002, Borrowers obtained a commercial loan from AFCU for approximately \$2.9 million. The loan was secured by real property located in Mesquite, Nevada. Borrowers defaulted, and AFCU caused a trustee's sale of the property to be held on October 4, 2012. After the proceeds of the sale were applied to the balance of the loan, there remained a deficiency of approximately \$2.4 million. On April 4, 2013, AFCU sued Borrowers in the Eighth Judicial District Court to recover the deficiency.

Borrowers moved to dismiss the deficiency action, arguing that AFCU could not sue to recover the deficiency in a Nevada court. To support this argument, Borrowers cited clauses in the note and loan agreement executed by AFCU and Borrowers. The clause in the loan agreement states that the parties "agree and submit themselves to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah..." The clause in the note states that Borrowers (and only Borrowers) "agree to submit to the jurisdiction of" the courts of Utah. Neither clause contains any mandatory or exclusive language indicating that suit may only be brought in Utah. Nevertheless, the district court accepted Borrowers' argument that the provision was a mandatory forum selection clause, rather than a permissive consent to jurisdiction clause. As a result, the district court granted the motion to dismiss.

At the hearing on the motion, the district court also inquired whether this case is governed by Nevada law or Utah law, due to a choice of law provision contained in the loan agreement. The order granting the motion to dismiss states that AFCU's deficiency action is governed by Utah law. Borrowers argue that AFCU's lawsuit is thus governed by Utah's three-month statute of limitations for deficiency actions, rather than Nevada's six-month limitations period. Accordingly, Borrowers contend that the lawsuit is time-barred.

AFCU filed a timely notice of appeal of the district court's dismissal order, and this appeal followed.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On April 11, 2002, nine borrowers obtained a commercial loan from AFCU in the principal amount of \$2,900,000 (the “Loan”). The Loan is evidenced by a Business Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), see JA 026-032, and a Commercial Promissory Note (the “Note”), see JA 034-038. The nine borrowers under the Loan are Mesquite Jabez, LLC; Clifford Redekop; Joey Bowler; Charles Weiner; and the five Borrowers named as defendants in this action. JA 037. Borrowers agreed to be jointly and severally liable for all amounts due under the Loan. See id. The Loan was secured by a Trust Deed that encumbered real property at 820 West Mesquite Boulevard, Mesquite, Nevada (the “Property”). See JA 046-065.

Borrowers defaulted in their obligations under the loan. JA 003 (Complaint ¶ 15). As a result, AFCU caused a trustee’s sale of the Property to be held on October 4, 2012. JA 004 (Complaint ¶ 17). At the time of the sale, the total amount owed from Borrowers to AFCU was approximately \$3,628,010.34. JA 004 (Complaint ¶ 20). AFCU purchased the Property with a credit bid of \$1,215,000.00, leaving a deficiency of approximately \$2,413,010.34. JA 004 (Complaint ¶¶ 18, 22).

On April 4, 2013 – within Nevada’s six-month statute of limitations for the filing of a deficiency action – AFCU sued Borrowers in the Eighth Judicial District

Court. See JA 001-005. AFCU sought to recover the deficiency owed by Borrowers pursuant to NRS 40.455. See id. On July 29, 2013, Borrowers responded to AFCU's Complaint by filing a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See JA 017-038. Borrowers argued that AFCU could not sue to recover the deficiency in a Nevada court because of clauses contained in the Loan Agreement and Note consenting to jurisdiction in Utah. See JA 019-023. The relevant clause in the Loan Agreement provides:

**Jurisdiction.** The parties agree and submit themselves to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah with regard to the subject matter of this agreement.

JA 031. The relevant provision in the Note states:

If there is a lawsuit, Borrower(s) agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the court in the county in which Lender is located.

JA 036.<sup>1</sup>

On August 20, 2013, AFCU filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss in which it explained the distinction between mandatory forum selection clauses, on one hand, and permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses, on the other hand. See JA 039- 044. AFCU further explained that the two clauses at issue in this case are

---

<sup>1</sup> AFCU's main offices are located in Riverdale, Utah. JA 002 (Complaint ¶ 1).

permissive, rather than mandatory. See id. Borrowers filed a reply on August 27, 2013. See JA 066-073.

On August 29, 2013, the district court heard arguments from AFCU and Borrowers regarding these two provisions. At the hearing, Judge Wiese noted that the Loan Agreement includes a choice of law provision in favor of Utah law. See JA 094-095 (Settled and Approved Statement of Proceedings from Hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss ¶ 5). As a result, he solicited argument from counsel as to whether Nevada or Utah law governs this case. See id. In response, counsel for AFCU argued that Nevada’s laws control the deficiency action related to the non-judicial foreclosure of a loan secured by Nevada real property, which foreclosure was conducted pursuant to Nevada law. See id. After further arguments, Judge Wiese took Borrowers’ motion to dismiss under advisement. See JA 096 (Settled and Approved Statement of Proceedings from Hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss ¶ 7).

On September 9, 2013, the district court entered an order granting the motion to dismiss. See JA 075-080. The district court held that “while the language of [the Loan Agreement and Note] could have more clearly made such forum selection ‘exclusive,’ nonetheless, the language clearly enough identifies Utah as the forum which [the parties] selected for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction.” JA 078. Thus, the district court found that a consent to jurisdiction



clause with no mandatory or exclusive language functions as a mandatory forum selection clause.<sup>2</sup>

The district court went on to state that “[w]hether or not the Plaintiff has a valid claim for a deficiency judgment in the State of Utah, under the laws of the State of Utah ... is for a Utah court to decide.” JA 078. Thus, the district court erroneously also held that the case is governed by Utah law, presumably including Utah’s statute of limitations for deficiency actions.

In addition to their forum selection clause argument, Borrowers argue that this case is subject to dismissal under Utah’s three-month statute of limitations. To support their argument, Borrowers point to a choice of law provision in the Loan Agreement in favor of Utah law. See JA 031 (“This Agreement (and all loan documents in connection with this transaction) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah.”). However, this Court’s binding precedent forecloses Borrowers’ statute of limitations argument because, by its terms, Utah’s statute of limitations does not apply extraterritorially. This case is

---

<sup>2</sup> The district court did not address whether the clause in the Loan Agreement or the clause in the Note was controlling. As explained below, however, the Court does not have to resolve this issue because neither of the two provisions is a mandatory forum selection clause. Both provisions are permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses, meaning that AFCU is entitled to sue in Nevada court regardless of which provision controls.

governed by Nevada's six-month statute of limitations – under which AFCU's complaint is timely – and not by Utah's three-month statute.

AFCU filed a timely notice of appeal of the district court's dismissal order on September 27, 2013. See JA 090-091.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court has previously noted the distinction between mandatory forum selection clauses and permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses. The federal courts, the California courts, and the courts of at least twenty other states have also recognized this distinction. Consent to jurisdiction clauses authorize jurisdiction and venue in a designated forum, but do not prohibit litigation elsewhere. The purpose of such a clause is to prevent either party from contesting the personal jurisdiction of the chosen forum (here, Utah) if and only if a lawsuit is brought in that forum. In contrast, mandatory forum selection clauses contain clear language indicating that jurisdiction and venue are appropriate only in the designated forum.

Federal and state courts have almost unanimously held that when the parties to a contract “consent to jurisdiction” in a given state, but the parties do not include any mandatory or exclusive language making such jurisdiction exclusive, the clause is permissive. AFCU has found no reported case law from any jurisdiction to support Borrowers’ argument that consent to jurisdiction language, by itself, requires the parties to litigate solely in the designated forum. Furthermore, this Court strongly suggested in a previous case that it rejects Borrowers’ position. Since the consent to jurisdiction clauses in this case do not contain mandatory or exclusive language, they are clearly permissive. Therefore, AFCU may sue in a Nevada court to recover the deficiency owed by Borrowers.

Borrowers also argue that AFCU's deficiency action is time-barred because it is governed by Utah's three-month statute of limitations, rather than Nevada's six-month statute of limitations. Borrowers base this argument on a choice of law provision in the Loan Agreement which states that the agreement is governed by Utah law. However, this Court explicitly held in Key Bank of Alaska v. Donnels, 106 Nev. 49, 53, 787 P.2d 382, 384-85 (1990), that a choice of law provision does not incorporate the designated jurisdiction's deficiency statutes if the designated jurisdiction's statutes, by their own terms, do not apply extraterritorially to a trustee's sale held in Nevada. Since the real property in this case is located in Nevada, and since Utah's deficiency statutes do not purport to apply extraterritorially to a Nevada trustee's sale, AFCU's deficiency action is governed by Nevada's six-month limitations period. Accordingly, AFCU's lawsuit is timely.

For these reasons and others discussed herein, the Court should reverse the district court's order dismissing AFCU's complaint and instruct the district court to apply the six-month statute of limitations of NRS 40.455(1).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“This court reviews a district court’s decision regarding subject matter jurisdiction *de novo*.” Holdaway-Foster v. Brunell, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 51, 2014 WL 2893194, at \*2 (2014); accord Ogawa v. Ogawa, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009) (“Subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.”). The interpretation of a contract is also a question of law which this Court reviews *de novo*. Benchmark Ins. Co. v. Sparks, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 33, 254 P.3d 617, 620 (2011).

## ARGUMENT

**I. Since the consent to jurisdiction clauses in the Loan Agreement and Note are permissive, AFCU may sue in Nevada court to obtain a deficiency judgment.**

A plaintiff in a contract dispute is generally entitled to sue in any jurisdiction the plaintiff chooses. Cf. Mountain View Rec., Inc. v. Imperial Comm. Cooking Equipment Co., 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 45, 305 P.3d 881, 885 (2013) (noting, in context of forum non conveniens doctrine, that “a plaintiff’s selected forum choice may only be denied under exceptional circumstances strongly supporting another forum.”). One exception from this rule is that Nevada courts will generally enforce a mandatory forum selection clause contained in the contract. In their briefing before the district court, Borrowers focused almost entirely on state and federal case law which discusses the enforceability of mandatory forum selection clauses as a general matter. See JA 021-022 (citing Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462 (1985); The M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1 (1972); and Tandy Computer Leasing v. Terina’s Pizza, Inc., 105 Nev. 841, 784 P.2d 7 (1989)).

However, this case law is completely inapposite because it does not address the issue raised in this case. This case does not involve the enforceability of mandatory forum selection clauses as a general matter. Instead, this case involves the distinction between a mandatory forum selection clause, on one hand, and a

permissive consent to jurisdiction clause, on the other. Before a court decides whether to enforce a purported forum selection clause, the court must resolve this predicate issue.

As explained below, neither of the two provisions in this case is a mandatory forum selection clause. The two clauses state that the parties consent to jurisdiction in Utah, but they do not include any mandatory or exclusive language making this jurisdiction exclusive. In other words, they are permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses. Since neither provision requires AFCU to sue in Utah, the district court's dismissal should be reversed.<sup>3</sup>

**A. A forum selection clause requires that all litigation be brought in the designated forum, whereas a consent to jurisdiction clause does not.**

Before addressing the enforceability of a forum selection clause, a court must determine whether the clause is mandatory or merely permissive. 14D Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller, & Edward H. Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure § 3803.1 (3d ed. 2007). Permissive forum selection clauses – frequently

---

<sup>3</sup> AFCU will analyze the scope and enforceability of the two clauses under Nevada law, since the parties only referenced Nevada law in briefing this issue before the district court. However, even if the Court believes that Utah law governs this issue due to the choice of law provision in the Loan Agreement, see JA 031, the outcome of the case will be the same. Reported decisions from the Utah courts indicate they would follow this Court in recognizing the distinction between mandatory forum selection clauses and permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses. See *infra* note 5. Since the clauses in this case contain no mandatory or exclusive language, they are clearly permissive regardless of whether they are governed by Nevada or Utah law.

described as consent to jurisdiction clauses—authorize jurisdiction and venue in a designated forum, but do not prohibit litigation elsewhere. Id. In contrast, mandatory forum selection clauses contain clear language indicating that jurisdiction and venue are appropriate exclusively in the designated forum. Id.

A clause which states that a particular court or state has jurisdiction over a contract, but which says nothing about it being exclusive jurisdiction, is permissive, not mandatory. Kachal, Inc. v. Menzie, 738 F. Supp. 371, 373 (D. Nev. 1990). “The effect of the language is merely that the parties consent to the jurisdiction of that particular court or state. Such consent does not preclude the action from being litigated in another court.” Id. In contrast, mandatory forum selection clauses contain language such as “exclusive” or “only,” which mandates that the designated courts are the only ones which have jurisdiction. Id. at 373-74.

Although a consent to jurisdiction clause does not force the parties to litigate only in the designated forum, there are still compelling reasons to include such a provision:

A permissive forum selection clause in a negotiated contract between sophisticated actors is a risk management tool. With such a clause, a defendant is more strongly deterred from challenging personal jurisdiction in a suit that is filed in the consented-to-jurisdiction than he or she would be if such a clause were absent. This is the case even if it is later determined that jurisdiction would have been proper in the consented-to-jurisdiction under a traditional minimum contacts analysis. The presence of the clause avoids the need to



rely solely on the traditional minimum contacts analysis by providing a second, stronger basis for jurisdiction thereby minimizing the risk that anything more than a frivolous challenge to jurisdiction may arise.

Dunne v. Libbra, 330 F.3d 1062, 1064 (8th Cir. 2003). This is precisely the reason for the permissive consent to jurisdiction clause in this case. AFCU, located in Utah, contracted to eliminate any argument by the Borrowers that they could not be sued in Utah should AFCU choose to file an action there. However, nothing in the contracts required AFCU to sue Borrowers in Utah.

**1. This Court has previously noted the distinction between mandatory forum selection clauses and permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses.**

This Court has previously noted and discussed the distinction between mandatory forum selection clauses and permissive consent to jurisdiction clauses. In Tuxedo Int'l Inc. v. Rosenberg, 127 Nev. Adv. Rep. 2, 251 P.3d 690 (2011), the Court addressed a dispute between an investor and two defendants who allegedly misrepresented to the investor that they owned casinos in Peru. When the investor sued, the defendants moved to dismiss the case, arguing that any lawsuit arising from their dealings had to be brought in Peru. Id. at 692. Defendants based their argument on three separate forum selection clauses contained in three separate agreements between the investor and the defendants. Id.

The district court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss, finding the clauses were both enforceable and mandatory. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court

reversed the judgment and remanded the case for further proceedings. Id. at 699. Among other things, the Supreme Court instructed the district court to determine which of the three forum selection clauses controlled the dispute. Id. at 699-700. In doing so, the Supreme Court noted significant differences between the three clauses. The three clauses provided, in order:

Any arising dispute will be submitted to arbitration in Peru by an arbitration tribunal to be set according to what the Parties may agree and lacking such agreement, pursuant to the General Law of Arbitration of Peru in force at the time the dispute arises.

Id. at 691.

The parties hereto hereby consent to jurisdiction in Lima, Peru.

Id.

Each party hereby consents to personal jurisdiction in the Country of Peru and acknowledges that venue is proper in any court in the Country of Peru and agrees that any action related to this Addendum must be brought in a court in the Country of Peru and waives any objection that may exist, now or in the future, with respect to jurisdiction, governing law and venue as set out in this paragraph.

Id. at 692.

In discussing the second clause, which merely provided that the parties “consent to jurisdiction in Lima, Peru,” the Supreme Court noted:

It can be argued...that there is no requirement contained in this clause that Peru is the exclusive forum for

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