1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3 AMERICA FIRST FEDERAL
4 CREDIT UNION, a federally
5 chartered credit union,

6 Appellant,

7 v.

8 FRANCO SORO, an individual;
9 MYRA TAIGMAN-FARRELL, an
10 individual; ISAAC FARRELL, an
11 individual; KATHY ARRINGTON,
12 an individual; and AUDIE
13 EMBESTRO, an individual;

14 Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Dec 12 2014 12:55 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No: 64130

Dist. Court Case No: A-13-679511-C

15 **APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT,
16 THE HONORABLE JERRY A. WIESE PRESIDING**

17 **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

18 **BOGATZ LAW GROUP**

19 I. Scott Bogatz, Esq.

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

1 **I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**¹

2 A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN
3 CONCLUDING, BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE
4 PRESENTED, THAT THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE
5 PROMISSORY NOTE CONTAIN LANGUAGE WHICH
6 CLEARLY EXPRESSES THE PARTIES' INTENT TO
7 SUBMIT LITIGATION RELATING TO THE AGREEMENT
8 AND THE NOTE TO THE JURISDICTION OF COURTS IN
9 THE STATE OF UTAH?

10 ¹ Approximately half of the Appellant's Opening Brief is dedicated to a
11 ***complex, fact-intensive*** statute of limitations/choice of law argument – an
12 issue that has not been raised, briefed, argued, nor decided upon in the
13 underlying action. See Key Bank of Ala. v. Donnels, 106 Nev. 49, 52, 787
14 P.2d 382, 384 (1990) (explaining “[w]e have held that ‘it is well settled that
15 the expressed intention of the parties as to the applicable law in the
16 construction of a contract is controlling ***if the parties acted in good faith
17 and not to evade the law of the real situs of the contract***’”) (emphasis
18 added) (*quoting Sievers v. Diversified Mtg. Investors*, 95 Nev. 811, 815, 603
19 P.2d 270, 273 (1979)).

20 In this case, the district court expressly ***declined*** to rule on this issue, instead
21 leaving it for a Utah court to determine (explaining “[w]hether or not the
22 [Appellant] has a valid claim for a deficiency judgment in the State of Utah,
23 under the laws of the State of Utah, and pursuant to the Loan Agreement and
24 the Promissory Note, ***is for a Utah court to decide***”). Joint Appendix 078
(emphasis added).

Given that this nuanced issue was never properly before the district court, it
is not appropriate for Appellant to raise this new issue herein. See Walch v.
State, 112 Nev. 25, 30, 909 P.2d 1184, 1187 (1996) (explaining “if a party
fails to raise an issue below, this court need not consider it on appeal”)
(*citing Montesano v. Donrey Media Group*, 99 Nev. 644, 650 n. 5, 668 P.2d
1081, 1085 n. 5 (1983), *cert. denied*, 466 U.S. 959, 104 S.Ct. 2172 (1984));
see also Diamond Enter., Inc. v. Lau, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74
(1997) (holding “[i]t is well established that arguments raised for the first
time on appeal need not be considered by this court.”) (*citing Montesano*, 99
Nev. at 650 n. 5, 668 P.2d at 1085 n. 5).

However, in the unlikely event this Court determines it would like to
consider this newly-raised issue in the instant appeal, Respondents
respectfully request leave to file a supplementary brief of points and
authorities on this matter.

1 **II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND PROCEDURE**

2 **A. RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

3 **1. The Loan And Loan Documents**

4 On or about April 11, 2002, America First Federal Credit Union
5 (“America First”) and Respondents entered into a Business Loan Agreement
6 (“Loan Agreement”), whereby America First agreed to lend, and
7 Respondents agreed to borrow, approximately \$2,900,000 for use in the
8 purchase of a liquor store/mini mart in Nevada. Joint Appendix (“JA”) 019.

9 On or about the same date, America First and Respondents executed a
10 Commercial Promissory Note (“Note”) and a Trust Deed with Assignment
11 of Rents (“Deed of Trust”) to secure the Note (the Loan Agreement, Note
12 and Deed of Trust are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Loan
13 Documents”). Id.

14 **2. The Applicable Law And Jurisdiction Selection**
15 **Clauses Within The Loan Documents**

16 The Loan Agreement contains an “Applicable Law” clause which
17 expressly provides:

18 **Applicable Law.** This Agreement (and all loan documents in
19 connection with this transaction) shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah.

20 JA 031. In addition, the Loan Agreement contains an “Acceptance” clause
21 which specifies that “This Agreement is accepted by Lender in the State of
22 Utah. Id. The Loan Agreement also contains a “Jurisdiction” selection
23 clause which expressly provides:
24

1 **Jurisdiction.** The parties agree and submit themselves to the
2 jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah with regard to the
subject matter of this agreement.

3 Id.

4 Similarly, the Note contains a jurisdiction selection clause which
5 expressly provides:

6 If there is a lawsuit, [Respondents] agree[] to submit to the
7 jurisdiction of the court in the county in which Lender is
located.”

8 JA 036.

9 America First is located at “4646 South 1500 West, Suite 130,
10 Riverdale, Utah.” JA 002 ¶ 1.

11 The Deed of Trust, however, provides in relevant part:

12 This Trust Deed shall be construed according to the laws of the
13 State of N[evada]. Notwithstanding any provision herein or in
14 said note, the total liability for payments in the nature of
interest shall not exceed the limits now imposed by the
applicable laws of the State of N[evada].

15 JA 050 ¶ 25.

16 **3. The Non-Judicial Foreclosure**

17 The Nevada property securing the Note was sold via a non-judicial
18 foreclosure sale on October 4, 2012. JA 004 ¶ 17.

19 **B. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND**

20 **1. The Complaint**

21 On April 4, 2013 - exactly six months after the non-judicial
22 foreclosure sale of the property securing the Note - America First filed the
23
24

1 underlying Complaint in Nevada, seeking a deficiency judgment against
2 Respondents under Nevada law. JA 002 – 005.

3 **2. The Motion To Dismiss**

4 In response to the Complaint filed by America First, Respondents
5 filed a Motion to Dismiss on July 29, 2013. JA 017 – 038. In the Motion to
6 Dismiss, Respondents argued essentially that pursuant to NRCPC 12(b)(1)
7 and 12(h)(3), the district court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over
8 the dispute based upon the forum and jurisdiction selection clauses
9 contained in the relevant Loan Documents. JA 019 – 032.

10 In its Opposition, America First argued that the applicable forum and
11 jurisdiction selection clauses contained in the Loan Documents were merely
12 permissive, not mandatory. JA 042 – 043. Based upon this erroneous
13 argument, America First suggested that the district court should simply
14 ignore the forum and jurisdiction selection clauses contained in the
15 underlying Loan Documents which they drafted, and allow this action to
16 proceed in Nevada. JA 041 – 043.

17 **3. The District Court Grants Respondents' Motion To**
18 **Dismiss**

19 Following a hearing on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the district
20 court issued an Order on September 6, 2013, granting Respondents' Motion
21 to Dismiss in its entirety. JA 075 – 080. In the September 6, 2013 Order,
22 the district court correctly found and concluded in relevant part:
23
24

1 Although the Trust Deed includes language indicating that
2 Nevada law applies, the Trust Deed is simply security for the
Promissory Note.

3 Plaintiff's attempt to obtain a deficiency judgment is an action
4 based upon the Business Loan Agreement and the Commercial
Promissory Note, not based on the Trust Deed.

5 ...

6 This Court concludes, based upon the evidence presented, that
7 the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note contain language
8 which clearly expresses the parties' intent to submit litigation
9 relating to the Agreement and the Note, to the jurisdiction of
10 the State of Utah. This Court finds that while the language of
11 such documents could have more clearly made such forum
12 selection "exclusive," nonetheless, the language clearly enough
13 identifies Utah as the forum which they selected for purposes of
14 subject matter jurisdiction. Because the property which
15 provided security for the loan, was already foreclosed upon, the
language contained in the Trust Deed is no longer relevant.
This Court will not attempt to second guess the intent of the
parties, or the clear language of the contract, but will instead
enforce the contract as written. Whether or not the Plaintiff has
a valid claim for a deficiency judgment in the State of Utah,
under the laws of the State of Utah, and pursuant to the Loan
Agreement and the Promissory Note, is for a Utah court to
decide.

16 JA 077 – 078.

17 **III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

18 The forum selection clauses at issue in this case state in relevant part:
19 "The parties agree and submit themselves to the jurisdiction of the courts of
20 the State of Utah with regard to the subject matter of this agreement," and
21 "If there is a lawsuit, [Respondents] agree[] to submit to the jurisdiction of
22 the court in [Utah]." JA 031, 036. After considering the plain language of
23 these clauses in addition to the arguments made by counsel for the respective
24

1 parties, the district court concluded that “based upon the evidence presented,
2 [] the Loan Agreement and the Promissory Note contain language which
3 clearly expresses the parties’ intent to submit litigation relating to the
4 Agreement and the Note, to the jurisdiction of the State of Utah.” JA 078.
5 The district court further concluded “that while the language of such
6 documents could have more clearly made such forum selection ‘exclusive,’
7 nonetheless, the language clearly enough identifies Utah as the forum which
8 they selected for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction.” Id.

9 As Respondents will demonstrate herein, this conclusion was not
10 made in error. Rather, this conclusion was entirely appropriate given the
11 plain language of the forum selection clauses in question. On the other
12 hand, *even if* this forum selection language could be considered ambiguous,
13 the district court’s conclusion was *still not* in error, as it is universally held
14 that ambiguously-drafted forum selection clauses are to be construed against
15 the drafter - America First. Given the foregoing, in addition to the fact that
16 America First failed to make a showing, or even allege that the enforcement
17 of its forum selection clauses would be unreasonable under the
18 circumstances of this case, this Court must come to the same conclusion as
19 the district court and determine that America First must pursue Respondents
20 in Utah. Allowing America First to maintain this action would allow
21 America First to avoid its contractual obligations - something this Court has
22 repeatedly and expressly refused to allow.

1 **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

2 “Contract interpretation is subject to a de novo standard of review.”
3 May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005).
4 Similarly, “[s]ubject matter jurisdiction is a question of law subject to de
5 novo review.” Ogawa v. Ogawa, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704
6 (2009) (citations omitted). “*The district court’s factual findings, however,*
7 *are given deference and will be upheld if not clearly erroneous and if*
8 *supported by substantial evidence.”* Id. (emphasis added) (citing Int’l Fid.
9 Ins. v. State of Nev., 122 Nev. 39, 42, 126 P.3d 1133, 1134–35 (2006)).

10 **V. LEGAL ARGUMENT**

11 **A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT**
12 **AMERICA FIRST MUST LITIGATE IN UTAH**
13 **BECAUSE THE FORUM SELECTION CLAUSES**
14 **CLEARLY EXPRESS THE PARTIES’ INTENT TO**
15 **LITIGATE THIS DISPUTE IN UTAH OR, AT THE**
VERY LEAST, ARE AMBIGUOUS AND MUST BE
CONSTRUED AGAINST AMERICA FIRST AS THE
DRAFTER.

16 The forum selection clauses at issue in this matter are clear on their
17 face: the parties intended to litigate any dispute regarding the Agreement or
18 Note in Utah. As the clauses are subject to contract interpretation – which
19 requires a plain reading – they should be construed and enforced as they
20 were written. However, even if the clauses are deemed ambiguous, they
21 must still be construed against the drafter. Given that America First drafted
22 the underlying Loan Documents, the district court was correct in
23 determining that the parties are required to litigate this dispute in Utah.

1 1. **Whether A Forum Selection Clause Is Mandatory Or**
2 **Permissive Is A Matter Of Contract Interpretation.**

3 It is widely held that the issue of whether a forum selection clause is
4 mandatory or permissive is a matter of contract interpretation. Terra Int’l,
5 Inc. v. Mississippi Chem. Corp., 922 F. Supp. 1334, 1370 (N.D. Iowa 1996)
6 aff’d, 119 F.3d 688 (8th Cir. 1997) (*citing* No. Cal. Dist. Council of Laborers
7 v. Pittsburg–Des Moines Steel Co., 69 F.3d 1034, 1036 (9th Cir. 1995)
8 (*citing* Hunt Wesson Foods, Inc. v. Supreme Oil Co., 817 F.2d 75, 77 (9th
9 Cir. 1987); Milk ‘N’ More, Inc. v. Beavert, 963 F.2d 1342, 1345 (10th Cir.
10 1992))).

11 In Nevada, the rules governing contract interpretation are well settled.
12 “It has long been the policy in Nevada that absent some countervailing
13 reason, contracts will be construed from the written language and enforced
14 as written.” Ellison v. Cal. State Auto. Ass’n, 106 Nev. 601, 603, 797 P.2d
15 975, 977 (1990) (*citing* Cf. So. Trust Mort. Co. v. K & B Door Co., 104
16 Nev. 564, 568, 763 P.2d 353, 355 (1988) (explaining where a document is
17 clear on its face, the court will construe it according to its plain language));
18 see Anvui, LLC v. G.L. Dragon, LLC, 123 Nev. 212, 216, 163 P.3d 405,
19 407 (2007) (explaining “[i]n interpreting a contract, “the court shall
20 effectuate the intent of the parties, which may be determined in light of the
21 surrounding circumstances if not clear from the contract itself.””)) (*quoting*
22 NGA # 2 Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Rains, 113 Nev. 1151, 1158, 946 P.2d 163, 167
23 (1997) (*quoting* Davis v. Nev. Nat’l Bank, 103 Nev. 220, 223, 737 P.2d 503,

1 505 (1987)); Rivero v. Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 429, 216 P.3d 213, 226-
2 27 (2009) (explaining that “[p]arties are free to contract, and the courts will
3 enforce their contracts if they are not unconscionable, illegal, or in violation
4 of public policy”) (*citing* NAD, Inc. v. Dist. Ct., 115 Nev. 71, 77, 976 P.2d
5 994, 997 (1999) (explaining that “parties are free to contract in any lawful
6 matter”). Moreover, this Court has held:

7 It is not a proper function of the court to re-write or distort a
8 contract under the guise of judicial construction. **The law will**
9 **not make a better contract for parties than they themselves**
10 **have seen fit to enter into, or alter it for the benefit of one**
11 **party and to the detriment of the other. The judicial function**
12 **of a court of law is to enforce the contract as it is written.**

11 Pioneer Title Ins. & Trust Co. v. Cantrell, 71 Nev. 243, 245-46, 286 P.2d
12 261, 263 (1955) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

13 It is also well settled in Nevada that ***any ambiguity in the contract***
14 ***will “be construed against the drafter.”*** Anvui, LLC, 123 Nev. at 215-16,
15 163 P.3d at 407 (emphasis added) (*citing* Mullis v. Nev. Nat’l Bank, 98 Nev.
16 510, 513, 654 P.2d 533, 535 (1982)). “A contract is ambiguous when it is
17 subject to more than one reasonable interpretation.” Anvui, LLC, 123 Nev.
18 at 215, 163 P.3d at 407 (*citing* Shelton v. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492, 497, 78
19 P.3d 507, 510 (2003)). An ambiguous contract is also ““an agreement
20 obscure in meaning, through indefiniteness of expression, or having a double
21 meaning.”” Galardi v. Naples Polaris, LLC, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 33, 301 P.3d
22 364, 366 (2013) *reconsideration en banc denied* (July 18, 2013) (*citing*
23 Hampton v. Ford Motor Co., 561 F.3d 709, 714 (7th Cir. 2009) (*quoting*
24

1 Whiting Stoker Co. v. Chicago Stoker Corp., 171 F.2d 248, 251 (7th Cir.
2 1948))).

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